No. 15-114574-A

**IN THE
COURT OF APPEALS OF THE
STATE OF KANSAS**

STATE OF KANSAS
Plaintiff-Appellant

Vs.

LAKENDRICK K. SMITH
Defendant-Appellee

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Appeal from the District Court of
Shawnee County, Kansas
Honorable Mark S. Braun, District Judge
District Court Case No. 14 CR 2079

Chadwick J. Taylor, #19591
District Attorney
Third Judicial District
Shawnee County Courthouse
200 SE 7th Street, Suite 214
Topeka, Kansas 66603
(785) 251-8200 Ext. 4330
(785) 251-4909 FAX
sncoda@sncoda.us

Attorney for the Appellant

NATURE OF THE CASE

The Defendant is charged with criminal threat and disorderly conduct. Prior to trial, the district court granted the Defendant's motion to suppress a firearm seized in a search of the Defendant's car and also ruled certain statements made by the Defendant to a police officer were inadmissible at trial. The State now appeals those rulings, prior to trial.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- ISSUE I:** **The district court erred in suppressing evidence of a firearm seized from the Defendant's vehicle because the search and seizure were justified by exigent circumstances.**
- ISSUE II:** **The district court erred in suppressing Smith's statement to Riggin because it was not the result of custodial interrogation and it was admissible under the public safety exception to *Miranda*.**

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On September 12, 2014, the Defendant, Lakendrick Smith, was at the Burger Stand in Topeka, Kansas making advances on a bartender named Heather Hodges. (R. I. 12). Smith eventually became agitated and said to people in the Burger Stand that he had a gun and “would not hesitate to shoot every motherfucker in this place.” (R. I, 12.) Douglas Fehr, an off-duty Shawnee County Sheriff’s Officer who was working as a private security officer, was summoned by the Burger Stand personnel to deal with an individual with a gun. (R. IV, 5, 7-8). An employee pointed out Smith to Fehr as the person they thought had a gun. (R. IV, 8). Fehr told Smith, and another man Smith was with named Jerico Scholl, that they had to leave the Burger Stand and they complied. (R. IV, 9-10, 34-35). While outside, Fehr told Smith the people inside said that he had a gun on him. (R. IV, 11). Smith responded that he did not have a gun; he had a concealed carry permit, but he did not have the gun on his person. (R. IV, 11-12). As he continued to talk to Fehr, Smith became agitated and told Scholl to go get the gun and Scholl moved towards the passenger side of the vehicle in which he and Smith had arrived. (R. IV, 12).

Topeka Police Department officers, including Victor Riggin and Sam Cartmill arrived at the scene. (R. IV, 32, 58-59) Riggin was advised by dispatch that a black male subject wearing a blue hoodie was talking about going and getting a gun; Cartmill was advised that there was a subject “threatening to shoot the place up.” (R. IV, 32-33, 59). Riggin encountered three people outside the Burger Stand, two black males in blue hoodies (Smith and Scholl) and Fehr, whom he recognized as an officer. (R. IV, 33-34). Riggin began his investigation by patting down and talking to Scholl although he found no weapons on his person. (R. IV, 35,48).

Cartmill had contact with the Burger Stand bartender, Heather Hodges, and received information about what had happened inside. (R. IV, 60, 67). Based on that information he arrested Smith, informing him that he was arrested for disorderly conduct; however, he was also concerned about a possible criminal threat or a weapons violation. (R. IV, 60). Cartmill did not ask Smith any questions, but informed him of why he was being arrested then led him to the back of his patrol car. (R. IV, 61-62). Smith reacted angrily, yelling that he was being harassed because of his race and also stating that he had a concealed carry permit. (R. IV, 61). Cartmill did not ask Smith about weapons, but rather, patted him down and found no weapons. (R. IV, 66). Smith had been handcuffed and placed in the backseat of the patrol car, and the door was shut. (R. IV, 64-65, 67).

After Riggin had Scholl sit on the curb, Fehr told him that Smith told Scholl to get the gun and he pointed towards a blue Crown Victoria. (R. IV, 36-37, 49). Riggin approached the Crown Victoria, found it locked, and looked inside but could not see a gun in plain view. (R. IV, 38). While he was looking into the car an unknown bystander, later identified as Bret Micah Robinson, kept trying to get between him and the car. (R. IV, 49, 74-75). Robinson was interfering with Riggin's inspection of the vehicle trying to video record the events. (R. IV, 49, 71-72). Robinson began screaming at Riggin and was eventually arrested and placed into handcuffs. (R. IV, 71-72).

Riggin approached the passenger side back seat of Cartmill's patrol vehicle to speak with Smith. (R. IV, 37-38). At that point, Riggin believed he was investigating a criminal threat, committed by Smith, and the gun would have been part of the evidence of that crime. (R. IV, 38). The Burger Stand was full of people; there were several people outside, and there were others on the street watching the events. (R. IV, 11, 71). Riggin

was also concerned over the public safety implications of an unaccounted for firearm being somewhere in the area. (R. IV, 35, 39).

As Riggin opened the patrol car door, Smith said to him that he did not know why he was sitting there. (R. IV, 39). Riggin said that they were told he was threatening people with a gun. (R. IV, 39). Riggin removed Smith's car keys which were hanging around his neck for the purpose of entering the car and finding the gun. (R. IV, 39-40). After Riggin removed the keys, without being asked, Smith said to him that he would find the gun in the glove box. (R. IV, 40). With the keys in hand, Riggin returned to the Crown Victoria, unlocked it, entered the glove box, and discovered a firearm which he seized. (R. IV, 40-41). Riggin asked Smith no further questions, and Smith made no further statements. (R. IV, 40-41).

Smith was charged with criminal threat and disorderly conduct. (R. I, 8-9). Prior to trial, Smith filed a motion to suppress evidence seized from Riggin's search of the Crown Victoria. (R. I, 18-20). On August 19, 2015, the case came before the district court for an evidentiary hearing on the motion to suppress and the State's request to determine the admissibility of Smith's statements under *Jackson v. Denno*. (R. II, 2-3; R. IV, 3-4).

On September 17, 2015, the district court announced its decision in open court, making several findings of fact. (R. III, 2-19). The district court ultimately granted Smith's motion to suppress, ruling that all evidence, including the firearm seized as a result of the search of Smith's car would be suppressed. (R. III, 26-27, 33). Regarding Smith's statements, the district ruled that Smith's statements to Fehr were non-custodial and therefore admissible at trial, subject to other objections. (R. III, 33). The district

court ruled that Smith's statements to Cartmill did not violate *Miranda* because they were not the result of custodial interrogation. (R. III, 28). The district court ruled that Smith's statement to Riggins, that the gun was in the glove box, was the result of custodial interrogation and a public safety exception did not apply. (R. III, 34).

Regarding the motion to suppress, the district court ruled that the search of the Crown Victoria was not justified by exigent circumstances because neither the crimes of criminal threat nor disorderly conduct require, as an element, the use or presence of a weapon. (R. III, 23). At a previous pre-trial hearing on September 10, 2015, the district court inquired of the State whether it intended to introduce the firearm into evidence at trial, and the State responded that it did. (R. II, 17-18). The district court stated: "I'm trying to find or determine what the relevance of the weapon is at the time an oral statement was made by Mr. Smith." (R. II, 18). The State proffered the following to the district court:

"The evidence at trial will indicate that the defendant made statements to people in the Burger Stand that he was in possession of a firearm, that he had the firearm in his vehicle, that he had a concealed carry permit to possess a firearm and use the firearm, and he threatened to shoot people with the firearm inside the Burger Stand.

"The State's argument is that the fact that the defendant – what the State has to prove is, that the defendant made those statements. The State's position is going to be that the fact that the firearm was in fact there and he did have it is corroborative of our witnesses's testimony that he made statements about a firearm and that he made threats to use the firearm." (R. II, 18).

While ruling on the motion to suppress, the district court stated:

"The Court notes that the defendant had waived his right to a preliminary hearing in this case. . . There was also a proffer at the last motion hearing by counsel for the State that the defendant possessed a firearm, that the firearm was in his vehicle, he made statements to that effect that he had a concealed carry permit to carry a firearm, to possess and carry and use the

firearm, and that he threatened to shoot people with the firearm in the business. There is no evidence that the Court has heard that the defendant ever had possession of a gun while in the business. There is no testimony that the defendant ever had a gun in the business, went out to the vehicle. The testimony or clear indication is that the defendant was in the business throughout this time frame, had no gun on him. Obviously, a gun was discovered later.” (R. III, 18-19).

“The next issue becomes another exception that the State raised is the exigent circumstances in this case. And in – in the pleadings, there’s discussion about, normally it’s probable cause that evidence of a crime exists, and that here are exigent circumstances. There is some discussion about the automatic exigency of an automobile because of its mobility. Most of the cases that the Court has reviewed and seen and has been cited to deal with situations dealing with car stops, while that generally does not change the mobility of a particular case or the exigency issues, because warrantless searches are generally permitted if there is evidence of the crime in a vehicle, and I’ve got a couple of problems with that, and again, it may have been the way the evidence was presented or the information that was before the Court, but it’s clear throughout the, again, with both Cartmill and Riggin, that the two crimes that were being dealt with were disorderly conduct and criminal threat. There is no evidence that the Court has seen, especially through Riggin, that the crime of criminal threat or disorderly conduct involves a weapon as an element or as evidence of the crime that was involved in this particular case. . .” (R. III, 22-23).

The district court noted that both Smith and Scholl were handcuffed and in separate patrol cars, then went on to state:

“This is a crime that the oral statements that were made are what constitute the criminal threat, and the conduct of the yelling out on the sidewalk with Officer Cartmill appears to be the disorderly conduct, and then I’m not sure how much of that collected further from other information that was there. But again, the gun, whether or not a gun exists is not evidence of the crime of whether or not oral statements or the criminal threat were made or the communicated threat was made. . .

“. . . I have no evidence or information of communicating a threat where the gun was part of the crime. So, counsel, I do not believe that there was probable cause to search the vehicle for the evidence of the crimes involved, and there’s some case law that does talk about it relating to the crimes involved as opposed to finding evidence of a crime versus crime of – evidence of the crime.” (R. III, 24-25).

Regarding the issue of exigency and public safety, the district court stated:

“This is another part where Ms. Malin had to lead Riggin through some issues that weren’t objected to, but at some point, Riggin was acknowledging that, gee, public safety might have been an issue and what he was trying to figure out about the gun was trying to figure out where the gun was. Indications apparently from Fehr was that the gun was in the Crown Vic. Again, the Defendant and Scholl, both people who had apparent access to the vehicle, were both handcuffed, both in the vehicle. Riggin had gone to that car, found it locked, walked around the car to see if he could find evidence of a weapon inside the car through plain view. He could not. There was testimony that one or more officers were around the vehicle. There was an individual who was later arrested, I believe, for obstruction, but it was the gentleman who’s a law student that testified, but that officers had flashlights, they were trying to see inside the car. No evidence of a gun or the gun was visible from outside the car.” (R. III, 15-16).

“Officer Riggin went to Cartmill’s car, where the defendant was, opened the door. Riggin believed that the defendant was intoxicated based on the odor of alcohol and the defendant’s slurred speech. The defendant asked him at that time why he was sitting in the patrol vehicle. Riggin’s response was along the lines that he had been threatening people with a gun. Riggin either took the keys from around the defendant’s neck or a particular key from a lanyard around the defendant’s neck. After the removal of the key or keys, the defendant made a statement to Riggin that the car, or that the gun was in the car in the glove box. Riggin used the keys to unlock the car, and the gun was found in the glove box. It was photographed and seized.” (R. III, 17-18).

“The, and again, I look at the situation. I can understand why Riggin may want to know where the gun is, but the two people that – the whole issue with the gun and the exigent circumstances issue was eliminated almost immediately by dealing with having both of those people in custody, and both of them in separate vehicles. When I talked about Quarles, McKessler and Bailey, I realize those were more situations where statements were used, but in all three of those, it was clear from the get-go that a gun was used, that there were more public safety issues involved where the rape in Quarles occurred . . . I’ve looked at that whole idea of what the officers knew, what the – what Riggin testified as to what information he had, and again, his information was that somebody in a blue hoodie was going to get the gun. The first person he came into contact with a blue hoodie, there was not a weapon on him. There was a belief by Riggin the whole time that the gun was in the car, that the vehicle was locked. It certainly did not present a threat to anybody at the scene during that time.” (R. III, 25-26).

The State now appeals the district court's pre-trial ruling suppressing evidence of from the search of Smith's vehicle and his statement to Riggin. (R. I, 95).

ARGUMENTS AND AUTHORITIES

ISSUE I: The district court erred in suppressing evidence of a firearm seized from the Defendant's vehicle because the search and seizure were justified by exigent circumstances.

Jurisdiction and Standard of Review

The State may file an interlocutory appeal when a judge of the district court suppresses evidence. K.S.A. 22-3603. Motions to suppress contain mixed questions of law and fact. *State v. Marx*, 289 Kan. 657, 660, 215 P.3d 601 (2009). The factual conclusions are reviewed by a substantial competent evidence standard. *Marx*, 289 Kan. at 660. The ultimate legal question is reviewed de novo. *Marx*, 289 Kan. at 660. But, the appellate "court does not reweigh evidence, pass on credibility of witnesses, or resolve conflicts in the evidence." *Marx*, 289 Kan. at 660 (quoting *State v. Ackward*, 281 Kan. 2, 8, 128 P.3d 382 (2006)).

Argument

The district court's decision to suppress the gun found in Smith's car was legally erroneous because it incorrectly concluded that the gun Riggin was looking for was not evidence of the crimes he was investigating. The crimes in question involved allegations that Smith was threatening to retrieve his gun from his car and shoot people; therefore, the gun was directly related to the matter that was under investigation. The district court appeared to conflate the issue of public safety exigency, which was raised regarding Smith's statements to Riggin, with the exigency necessary for a search of the vehicle. The gun was sufficiently related to the matters being investigated at the time; there was

probable cause to believe the gun was in the car, and a search on that basis was legally justified.

Under the Fourth Amendment searches and seizures must be reasonable. A search or seizure without a warrant is per se unreasonable, subject to numerous exceptions. One such exception is known as the automobile exception, which holds that officers may search an automobile without a warrant so long as there is probable cause to believe that there is evidence within. *State v. Davis*, 31 Kan. App. 2d 1078, 1084, 78 P.3d 474 (2003). The law recognizes that an automobile presents an inherent exigency due to its mobility, and no additional exigent circumstances must be evident for this exception to apply. 31 Kan. App. 2d at 1084. Probable cause to search a vehicle is established if, under the totality of the circumstances, there is a fair probability that the car contains contraband or evidence. 31 Kan. App. 2d at 1084. The automobile exception applies even when there is no further exigency such as a probability of the vehicle actually being driven away. *United States v. Ludwig*, 10 F.3d 1523, 1528-29 (10th Cir. 1993). In *United States v. Johns*, 469 U.S. 478, 487-88, 105 S.Ct. 881, 83 L.Ed.2d 890 (1985), the Court held that a warrantless search of vehicles held in police custody for three days was justified by the fact that the investigators had probable cause to believe they would find evidence of a crime therein.

The concerns that the district court voiced about the lack of exigency, due to the fact that the suspects were in custody, were not legally relevant to the question of whether the automobile exception applied. The district court did not make any factual findings that Riggin lacked probable cause to believe that he would find Smith's gun in the car. The evidence on that point was substantial. Prior to conducting his search, Riggin had

been informed that Smith had beckoned Scholl to retrieve the gun from the Crown Victoria. Before entering the vehicle, Smith told Riggin that the gun was in car. At the time Riggin entered the Crown Victoria, there was probable cause to believe the gun was in car.

The district court's decision turned on a legal question of whether this information was sufficient probable cause that evidence of a crime was located in the vehicle. The district court applied an incorrect and overly restrictive definition of "evidence of a crime" to this test, apparently holding that for the gun to constitute evidence of a crime it would have to be an element of one of the charged offenses. Moreover, it appears that the district court concluded that the fact that Smith had the gun he mentioned in his earlier threat would not be relevant evidence at trial; therefore, Riggin had no basis to search for the gun.

The State's argument is that the gun was evidence of the crimes that the officers were investigating because it was logically related to the threats Smith is alleged to have made. The gun's presence in the vehicle, where Smith threatened it would be, was evidence that corroborated the eye witness statements regarding the specific threat Smith made. The State can find no caselaw directly on point, but there is a dearth of law on what constitutes "evidence of a crime." Most cases involving the automobile exception do not address corroborative evidence. However, applying generally accepted principles from the law indicates that "evidence of a crime" is not strictly limited to evidence that corresponds with a statutory element of a criminal offense.

In *Davis*, the defendant was observed taking merchandise from stores and placing it into the truck of a vehicle. The defendant was confronted by a police officer who

removed the car keys from the defendant's person, found the vehicle in question, searched the trunk and discovered the stolen merchandise. 31 Kan. App. 2d at 1080-81. When a defendant is charged with theft, as was the defendant in *Davis*, evidence of the stolen property is apparently relevant. The criminal act in *Davis* was obtaining unauthorized control over the merchandise and the evidence seized from the vehicle tended to prove the defendant actually took it and it was corroborative of the State's witnesses who saw the defendant take the property.

Evidence is relevant when it has any tendency in reason to prove any material fact. *State v. Hilt*, 299 Kan. 176, 189, 322 P.3d 367 (2014); K.S.A. 60-401(b). In *State v. Washington*, 226 Kan. 768, 770, 602 P.2d 1377 (1979), the Court held that the admission of evidence of a prior consistent statement of rape victim was admissible, over objections of improper bolstering, was admissible because it tended to corroborate the victim's later testimony. Corroborating evidence is, by definition, different or separate evidence, but it strengthens or confirms other evidence.

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