ELECTRONICALLY FILED 2016 Jan 04 PM 4:38 CLERK OF THE APPELLATE COURT CASE NUMBER: 114574

No. 15-114574-A

## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

STATE OF KANSAS,

Plaintiff-Appellant

VS.

## LAKENDRICK K. SMITH,

Defendant-Appellee.

## **BRIEF OF APPELLEE**

Appeal from the District Court of Shawnee County, Kansas Honorable Mark S. Braun District Court Case No. 14 CR 2017

> Ann Sagan, #26068 Assistant Public Defender Third Judicial District Public Defender Office 701 S.W. Jackson, Third Floor Topeka, Kansas 66603 (785)296-4905 FAX (785)296-7418 asagan@sbids.org

Attorney for Defendant-Appellee

#

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

## **Argument and Authorities**

Issue No. I: This court is without jurisdiction to consider the State's appeal, as the suppression of the evidence in question does not substantially impair the State's ability to prosecute this case.

#### Introduction and Standard of Review

In order for the State to bring an interlocutory appeal of a district court's decision to suppress evidence, the State must establish that suppression of the evidence substantially impairs its ability to prosecute the case. In this case, the district court suppressed a gun and a statement regarding a gun, neither of which had any connection to the crimes charged, or any bearing on whether or not the defendant committed the crimes charged. The defendant was not armed when the alleged offenses occurred, and possession of a weapon is not an element of either offense charged in this case. The gun in question was locked safely away from the alleged crime scene at the time of the alleged offenses. Because the gun and the statement regarding the gun are irrelevant to the prosecution, the State's ability to proceed is not affected by the court's order suppressing the evidence. Therefore, this Court lacks jurisdiction and this appeal should be dismissed.

Subject matter jurisdiction may be raised at any time, whether for the first time on appeal or even on the appellate court's own motion. <u>State v. Sales</u>, 290 Kan. 130, Syl. ¶ 3, 224 P.3d 546 (2010). The issue of a court's jurisdiction presents a question of law over which this Court has unlimited review. <u>State v. Toahty–Harvey</u>, 297 Kan. 101, 104, 298 P.3d 338 (2013). When the record discloses a lack of jurisdiction, it is the duty of the

appellate court to dismiss the appeal. <u>City of Overland Park v. Travis</u>, 253 Kan. 149, 153, 853 P.2d 47 (1993).

#### Discussion

The "threshold requirement" of substantial impairment to the ability to prosecute applies in this case.

This appeal was taken under the provisions of K.S.A. 22-3603:

When a judge of the district court, prior to the commencement of trial of a criminal action, makes an order quashing a warrant or a search warrant, suppressing evidence or suppressing a confession or admission an appeal may be taken by the prosecution from such order if notice of appeal is filed within 14 days after entry of the order. Further proceedings in the trial court shall be stayed pending determination of the appeal.

This statute had been in effect, in this form, since 1975. The only change since 1975 has been a 2010 amendment which expanded the time limit for filing a notice of appeal from 10 to 14 days. Laws 2010, ch.135, § 27.

In 1984, the Kansas Supreme Court interpreted this statute and held:

Under K.S.A. 22–3603, pretrial orders of a district court which exclude state's evidence so as to substantially impair the state's ability to prosecute the case may be appealed by the state by interlocutory appeal.

State v. Newman, 235 Kan. 29, Syl. ¶ 1, 680 P.2d 257, 258 (1984).

The Court explained that

...the section is intended to permit appellate review of trial court rulings on pretrial motions which may be determinative of the case. We wish to emphasize, however, that the appellate courts of Kansas should not take jurisdiction of the prosecution's interlocutory appeal from every run-of-the-mill pretrial evidentiary ruling of a district court, especially in those situations where trial court discretion is involved. Interlocutory appeals are to be permitted only where the pretrial order suppressing or excluding evidence places the State in a position where its ability to prosecute the case is substantially impaired.

In order to carry out this purpose of permitting interlocutory appeals by the State only in the cases referred to, the prosecutor should be prepared to make a showing to the appellate court that the pretrial order of the district court appealed from substantially impairs the state's ability to prosecute the case. Such a showing may be required either on order of the appellate court or when appellate jurisdiction of the interlocutory appeal is challenged by the defendant-appellee. 235 Kan. 35 (emphasis in original).

There is language in the Newman decision that suggests that K.S.A. 22-3603 grants the prosecution the right to appeal an order suppressing evidence that substantially impairs the State's ability to prosecute the case as well as any suppression based on constitutional grounds (as in this case): "We hold that the term "suppressing evidence" as used in that statute is to have a broader meaning than the suppression of evidence which is illegally obtained. It should include not only "constitutional suppression" but also rulings of a trial court which exclude state's evidence so as to substantially impair the state's ability to prosecute the case." 235 Kan. 34. However, subsequent decisions have interpreted Newman as establishing a threshold for interlocutory appeals of orders suppressing evidence, without reference to whether the suppression was based on constitutional or non-constitutional grounds:

K.S.A. 22–3603 does not authorize the prosecution to take an interlocutory appeal from a pretrial evidentiary ruling of a trial court suppressing evidence which does not substantially impair the State's ability to prosecute the case.

State v. Jones, 236 Kan. 427, 691 P.2d 35 (1984).

Interlocutory appeals in criminal actions are to be permitted only where the pretrial order suppressing or excluding evidence places the State in a position where its ability to prosecute is substantially impaired.

<u>State v. McDaniels</u>, 237 Kan. 767, Syl. ¶ 3, 703 P.2d 789 (1985).

If an exclusion of evidence does not substantially impair the State's ability to prosecute a case, the State cannot raise the issue on an interlocutory appeal. <a href="State v. Mitchell">State v. Mitchell</a>, 285 Kan. 1070, Syl. ¶ 6, 179 P.3d 394, 395 (2008).

In an interlocutory appeal, the prosecutor should be prepared to make a showing to the appellate court that the pretrial order of the district court appealed from substantially impairs the State's ability to prosecute the case.

State v. Sales, 290 Kan. 130, Syl. ¶ 5, 224 P.3d 546 (2010).

K.S.A. 22–3603 allows the prosecution to appeal from a pretrial order suppressing evidence. A threshold requirement for such an interlocutory appeal is that the suppression order appealed from must substantially impair the State's ability to prosecute the case.

State v. Bradley, 42 Kan. App. 2d 104, 105, 208 P.3d 788 (2009).

The State may not file an interlocutory appeal of an adverse pretrial ruling suppressing evidence unless its ability to prosecute the criminal case is substantially impaired as a result of the order.

State v. Bliss, 28 Kan. App. 2d 591, Syl. ¶ 2, 18 P.3d 979 (2001).

One panel of this Court has directly addressed the question of whether, in cases of the suppression of evidence on constitutional grounds, the State must show substantial impairment in order to take an interlocutory appeal. In <u>State v. Mooney</u>, 10 Kan. App. 2d 477, 478-79, 702 P.2d 328 (1985) the Court found that the substantial impairment threshold must be met:

In *Newman*, the Court considered the scope of jurisdiction over orders "suppressing evidence." In an earlier Court of Appeals case, it was held that this language in K.S.A. 22–3603 only included suppression orders based on constitutional rulings so that interlocutory appeals could not be taken from rulings suppressing evidence as a result of the application of the ordinary rules of evidence. State v. Boling, 5 Kan. App. 2d 371, 617 P. 2d 102 (1980). In Newman, the Supreme Court rejected this distinction between constitutional and evidentiary suppression orders and held that K.S.A. 22–3603 was intended to permit interlocutory appeals of pretrial rulings which may be determinative of the case. The Court acknowledged that not all pretrial suppression orders should be appealable and, thus, held that the State is required to establish that the suppression order placed it in a position where its ability to prosecute the case would be substantially impaired before its appeal could be heard. Newman, 235 Kan. at 35, 680 P.2d 257. Newman determined that the jurisdictional basis for the appeal of a suppression order should be premised on its impact on the prosecution's case whereas Boling had adopted a distinction based on the rationale of the order excluding evidence. In sum, Newman broadened the scope of appellate jurisdiction by interpreting the statute as permitting appeal of some orders based on evidentiary exclusion rules while still limiting jurisdiction to rulings of significant impact.

(emphasis added).

This requirement has been applied in at least one Supreme Court case involving a suppression on constitutional grounds. In <u>State v. Weis</u>, 246 Kan. 694, 792 P.2d 989

(1990) the defendant's confession was suppressed on Fourth Amendment grounds as the product of an illegal seizure. Our Supreme Court considered the State's interlocutory appeal, noting, "When a motion to suppress an illegally obtained confession is granted, the State is allowed to take an interlocutory appeal under K.S.A. 22–3603, if the suppressed evidence is essential to prove a prima facie case." 246 Kan. 696 (emphasis added).

In several unpublished decisions, panels of this Court have applied the threshold requirement of substantial impairment to State's appeals, when the suppression orders were based on constitutional grounds. For example, in State v. Kuszmaul, 327 P.3d 1052, 2014 WL 3024242 (Kan. Ct. App. 2014) the Court applied this requirement to an interlocutory appeal from a suppression order based on the Fourth Amendment, and dismissed the State's appeal. The Court commented, with regard to the Newman decision: "This court-made rule makes sense. If in the course of a criminal prosecution, the district court suppresses a relatively insignificant or minor piece of evidence as part of the State's case, the State should not be allowed to stay the prosecution for months pending determination of the appeal. The State is permitted to file an interlocutory appeal only when the suppression order substantially impairs its ability to secure a conviction against the defendant." Opinion, Page 2. In State v. Smith, 105 P.3d 279, 2005 WL 283626 (Kan. Ct. App. 2005) the district court suppressed evidence on Fourth Amendment grounds and the State took an interlocutory appeal. The defendant contended that the Court of Appeals did not have jurisdiction to consider the appeal because the State had not shown its ability to prosecute the case had been substantially impaired by the suppression. The Court agreed that the showing was a jurisdictional prerequisite and,

in the absence of that showing, dismissed the appeal. In <u>State v. Little</u>, 259 P.3d 749, 2011 WL 4035796 (Kan. Ct. App. 2011) the Court exercised jurisdiction over an interlocutory appeal of a suppression based on constitutional grounds after applying the threshold requirement of substantial impairment. "A threshold requirement for the State's interlocutory appeal is a showing that the suppression order substantially impaired the State's ability to prosecute the case." Opinion, Page 3. (These cases are cited as persuasive authority under Supreme Court Rule 7.04(g)(2)(B) and a copy of each is attached to this brief in Appendix A, B, and C, respectively).

The suppression order in this case does not meet the threshold requirement for a State's interlocutory appeal.

In this case, Mr. Smith is charged with criminal threat based on statements that he is alleged to have made to someone inside the Burger Stand. No weapon was involved. He is charged with disorderly conduct, based on the observations of law enforcement that he was outside the Burger Stand, yelling. No weapon was involved. Neither of the offenses that he is charged with have, as an element of the crime, the presence, use or display of a weapon:

- a) A criminal threat is any threat to:
- (1) Commit violence communicated with intent to place another in fear, or to cause the evacuation, lock down or disruption in regular, ongoing activities of any building, place of assembly or facility of transportation, or in reckless disregard of the risk of causing such fear or evacuation, lock down or disruption in regular, ongoing activities...

## K.S.A. § 21-5415.

- (a) Disorderly conduct is one or more of the following acts that the person knows or should know will alarm, anger or disturb others or provoke an assault or other breach of the peace:
- (1) Brawling or fighting;
- (2) disturbing an assembly, meeting or procession, not unlawful in its character; or

(3) using fighting words or engaging in noisy conduct tending reasonably to arouse alarm, anger or resentment in others.K.S.A. § 21-6203.

The essence of the offense of criminal threat is the words that were spoken. In this case, whatever words were spoken were spoken *without* a gun. Assuming *arguendo*, that Mr. Smith made threatening statements, the State is not required to prove that he had the ability to follow through on them, in order to prosecute him.

Additionally, the weapon in question was locked away safely, at some distance from the crime scene. There is no suggestion that Mr. Smith's ownership or possession of the gun was illegal.

The prosecutor proffered his theory on the gun's relevance to the prosecution, before the court ruled on the motion to suppress:

(Prosecutor): The evidence at trial will indicate that the defendant made statements to people in the Burger Stand that he was in possession of a firearm, that he had the firearm in his vehicle, that he had a concealed carry permit to possess a firearm and use the firearm, and he threatened to shoot people with the firearm inside the Burger Stand.

The State's argument is that the fact that the defendant – what the State has to prove is, that the defendant made those statements. The State's position is going to be that the fact that the firearm was in fact there and he did have it is corroborative of our witness's testimony that he made statements about a firearm and that he made threats to use the firearm.

(R. II, 18).

In other words, the gun has minor corroborative value. In the State's view, the fact Mr. Smith owned a gun makes it more likely that he said he would shoot someone. While the presence of the gun, in the car, might add minimal weight to the State's case, the suppression of the gun does not substantially impair the State's ability to prosecute Mr. Smith for offenses that occurred without the gun. Likewise, the suppression of Mr.

Smith's statement regarding the location of the gun does not impair the State's ability to prosecute these offenses.

At trial, it would be completely within the trial court's discretion to find that the gun had little, if any relevance, and to exclude it due to its prejudicial effect, under K.S.A. 60-445. See, State v. Lowrance, 298 Kan. 274, Syl. ¶ 9, 312 P.3d 328 (2013)("A trial judge may in his or her discretion exclude evidence if he or she finds that its probative value is substantially outweighed by its prejudicial impact. On appeal, this determination is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard, and the burden of persuasion is on the party alleging that the discretion was abused.") Indeed, the trial court commented, at the conclusion of the hearing on the motion to suppress, "I'm still trying to determine what the relevance is, if verbal statements were made of criminal threat, in or right outside the Burger Stand. I'm trying to sort out the relevance of whether there was a gun, however, far away it was in a vehicle." (R. IV, 80). This is the type of ruling that the Court referenced in Newman when stating that: "the appellate courts of Kansas should not take jurisdiction of the prosecution's interlocutory appeal [under K.S.A. 22– 3603] from every run-of-the-mill pretrial evidentiary ruling of a district court, especially in those situations where trial court discretion is involved." Newman, 235 Kan. 34–35.

In <u>State v. Mitchell</u>, 285 Kan. 1070, 179 P.3d 394 (2008), the State took an interlocutory appeal after the district court ruled that it would accept the defendant's stipulation that at the time of the offenses for which he was being prosecuted he was legally prohibited from owning or possessing a firearm. The trial court disallowed the State's proposed stipulation that contained more information about the defendant's adjudication as a juvenile offender. The court also ruled that the State would not be

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